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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. 1:21CR40-TNM

N N ' e N

DAVID LEE JUDD

Motion to Compel Discovery in Support of Mr. Judd’s Claim of
Selective Prosecution

Unfortunately, in recent years, crowds have attempted to breach federal
buildings in protests across the country. These incidents have caused significant
destruction of property, disruption of federal business, physical injury, and,
tragically, loss of life. In prosecuting the suspects in each instance, the federal
government has created significant disparities in charges and outcomes.

Mr. Judd does not yet contend the allegations below are sufficient for dismissal
of the charges against him. However, they are sufficient for the Court to compel
specific discovery regarding disparities in charging decisions.

I. BACKGROUND

A. David Lee Judd

The government has charged Mr. Judd in a nine-count indictment based on his
alleged conduct outside the United States Capitol on January 6, 2021. ECF no. 37.
Of course, on that date, a large group of protestors gathered on the Capitol grounds.
Eventually a substantial number — though not Mr. Judd — breached and entered the

Capitol building.
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The most serious charge against Mr. Judd is 18 U.S.C. § 111(b), assaulting,
resisting or impeding certain officers using a dangerous weapon. ECF no. 37. The
government alleges that Mr. Judd threw a small firecracker in the direction of Capitol
police officers. The government does not allege that Mr. Judd caused injury to any
officers or even that the alleged firecracker activated, but nonetheless classified the
object as a dangerous weapon for the purposes of the § 111(b) penalty enhancement.

Most of the January 6 defendants were vocal supporters of then-President
Donald Trump, a Republican, and were protesting Congress’s certification of
Democrat Joseph Biden Jr. as the winner of the November presidential election.
Many individuals — though not Mr. Judd — then breached the Capitol building with
the intent of interrupting Congress’s certification of the election results. Mr. Judd
and the rest of the January 6 defendants are being prosecuted by a Democratic
administration.

Based on the charging decisions and outcomes sought by the government in
Mr. Judd’s case, Mr. Judd believes he has a colorable claim of selective prosecution
when contrasted with the government’s charging and prosecutorial decision-making
in violent riots in Portland, Oregon in 2020 as well as at least one D.C. riot case in
2020.

B. Portland Riots

In the summer of 2020, protestors descended on the Federal Courthouse in

downtown Portland, Oregon. The groups gathered to protest the killing of George

Floyd by police officers in Minnesota. While the protest was less organized around a
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candidate than that of January 6, one local newspaper found common threads of
advocacy for “racial justice and police accountability.”! While neither issue strictly
follows party lines, both are currently more closely associated with the Democratic
Party.2 Then-President Trump voiced his support of such an association through
Twitter, “The FBI and Law Enforcement must focus their energy on ANTIFA and the
Radical Left, those who have spent the summer trying to burn down poorly run
Democrat Cities throughout the USA!”3
According to the government, the protests in Portland:

Were followed by nightly criminal activity in the form of vandalism,
destruction of property, looting, arson, and assault. One violent event
1impacting federal property occurred on May 28, 2020, when the Portland
Field Office for the Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) was
targeted by a Molotov cocktail. The Mark O Hatfield Courthouse has
experienced significant damage to the facade, glass, and building
fixtures during the weeks following this incident. Additionally, mounted
building security cameras and access control devices have been
vandalized or stolen. The most recent repair estimate for the damage at
the Mark O. Hatfield Courthouse is in excess of $50,000. Other federal
properties in the area routinely being vandalized include the historic
Pioneer Federal Courthouse, the Gus Solomon Courthouse, and the
Edith Green Wendall Wyatt Federal Office Building. FPS law
enforcement officers, U.S. Marshal Service Deputies and other federal
law enforcement officers working in the protection of the Mark O.

' Ding, Jaimie, Portland Protests: Who turned out night after night?, The
Oregonian (May 30, 2021), available at:
https://www.oregonlive.com/news/2021/05/who-protested-night-after-night-in-
portland.html.

2 For example, the “George Floyd Justice in Policing Act of 2021 passed the
House of Representative with 219 out of 221 Democrats voting in favor and 210 of
211 Republicans voting against. See Clerk, United States House of Representative,
Roll Call 60 — George Floyd Justice in Policing Act of 2021 (March 3, 2021), available
at: https://clerk.house.gov/Votes/202160.

3 Here are President Trump’s 5 Tweets about Portland Today, The Oregonian
(Oct. 12, 2020), available at: https:/www.oregonlive.com/politics/2020/10/here-are-
president-trumps-5-tweets-about-portland-today.html.



https://www.oregonlive.com/news/2021/05/who-protested-night-after-night-in-portland.html
https://www.oregonlive.com/news/2021/05/who-protested-night-after-night-in-portland.html
https://clerk.house.gov/Votes/202160
https://www.oregonlive.com/politics/2020/10/here-are-president-trumps-5-tweets-about-portland-today.html
https://www.oregonlive.com/politics/2020/10/here-are-president-trumps-5-tweets-about-portland-today.html
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Hatfield Courthouse have been subjected to assault, threats, aerial

fireworks including mortars, high intensity lasers targeting officer’s

eyes, thrown rocks, bottles and balloons filled with paint, and vulgar

language from demonstrators while performing their duties.

United States v. Bouchard, case no. 3:20-mj-00165 (D. Ore. July 24, 2020), ECF 1-1
at 4-5.

One example of such damage occurred on July 24, 2020, when “protestors
attempted to breach into the Mark O. Hatfield Federal United States Courthouse
(USCH) by damaging and removing the protective fencing around the west entrances
of the USCH.” Id. at 5. The marshals and U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP)
deployed tactical teams to defend the breach. Id. After repeatedly defying verbal
commands to move back, one defendant “placed his right arm around the neck of CBP
officer 1 in headlock maneuver.” Id. at 6. When another officer came to “remove
[defendant’s] right arm from around the neck of Officer 1... all three individuals went
to the ground.” Id. At the time, the defendant “was carrying a leaf blower and a
shield.” Id. In contrast to Mr. Judd, the defendant was only charged with a
misdemeanor, which the government eventually moved to dismiss without prejudice.
3:20-mj-00165, ECF no. 16.

Another defendant “used a homemade shield to strike the officer in the face.”
United States v. Johnson, case no. 3:20-mj-00170 (D. Ore. July 27, 2020), ECF no. 1
at 5. A search of the suspect revealed an “extendable baton, OC spray, steel plated
body armor, helmet, individual first aid kid, shin guards, gas mask, goggles...” Id. at

6. This defendant was also only charged with a misdemeanor, which the government

subsequently moved to dismiss. 3:20-mj-00170, ECF no. 9.
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A third defendant “struck DUSM VICTIM 1 in the face with a shield and then
punched DUSM Victim 1 in the face with a closed fist.” United States v. Webb, case
no. 3:20-mj-00169 (D. Ore. July 27, 2021) ECF no. 1 at 5. The defendant “resisted
arrest by pulling his arms away from the DUSMs in an attempt to avoid being
restrained.” Id. at 5-6. This defendant was also charged with only a misdemeanor,
which the government subsequently moved to dismiss. 3:20-mj-00169, ECF no. 22.

After a review of the evidence, the government charged at least twenty-two
individuals in Portland with assaulting an officer, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 111(a).
See Attachment A, List of Portland Defendants and Outcomes. Of those identified by
counsel, at least 25 cases were dismissed, including one in which the defendant
carried a knapsack with 14 commercial-grade fireworks. Id. Of those cases, at least
six cases were dismissed with prejudice through a deferred resolution agreement. Id.
In other cases involving alleged acts of violence, the government agreed to
recommend probation. Id.

These dismissals and resolutions have occurred under the same Democratic
administration that continues to prosecute Mr. Judd.

C. Fireworks Cases

Moreover, there have been multiple cases with similar factual circumstances
(i.e., fireworks were thrown at or towards police officers) where the government chose
to dismiss charges and/or declined to classify fireworks as dangerous weapons.

One such defendant was charged in a one-count indictment with only 18 U.S.C.

231(a)(3) civil disorder despite allegedly igniting and throwing a large, cylindrical
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firework at a group of police officers. United States v. Fox, case no. 3:20-cr-00501 (D.
Ore. filed Oct. 20, 2020).4 Notably, the maximum penalty for the civil disorder charge
is five years as compared to an enhanced penalty of up to 20 years for the § 111 charge
that Mr. Judd is facing based solely on the government’s characterization of the
firecracker as a dangerous weapon. 18 U.S.C. § 231(a)(3); 18 U.S.C. § 111(a).

In one case in D.C. Superior Court, a defendant (the “D.C. Fireworks
Defendant”) was charged with felony assault on a police officer while armed and
misdemeanor rioting based on throwing a firework at police officers during a riot that
took place in D.C. between August 30-31, 2020.5 United States v. Alanna Rogers, case
no. 2020 CF3 006970 (D.C. Super. Ct. dismissed Sept. 30, 2020). The M-80 style
firework thrown by Rogers allegedly burned an assistant chief's pant leg. Id.,
Affidavit in Support of an Arrest Warrant. All charges against the defendant were
dismissed without prejudice pursuant to a nolle prosequi submitted by the

government. Id., Government’s Notice of Nolle Prosequi.

+ ASTORIA MAN ACCUSED OF CIVIL DISORDER FOR THROWING A LARGE
CYLINDRICAL FIREWORK AT POLICE, U.S. Attorney’s Office District of Oregon (May
30, 2021), https://www.justice.gov/usao-or/pr/astoria-man-accused-civil-disorder-
throwing-large-cylindrical-firework-police.

5 The riot was an anti-police protest that took place in D.C. around the “Black
Lives Matter Plaza.” 2020 CF3 006970, Affidavit in Support of an Arrest Warrant.



https://www.justice.gov/usao-or/pr/astoria-man-accused-civil-disorder-throwing-large-cylindrical-firework-police
https://www.justice.gov/usao-or/pr/astoria-man-accused-civil-disorder-throwing-large-cylindrical-firework-police
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I1I. DISCUSSION

While the government has “broad discretion” in “enforc[ing] the Nation’s
criminal laws,” that discretion 1is, nevertheless, “subject to constitutional
constraints.” United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456, 465 (1996) (citations omitted).
“One of these constraints, imposed by the equal protection component of the Due
Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment” is that the government cannot pursue
criminal charges against a citizen that amounts to a “practical denial’ of equal
protection of law.” Id. (citations omitted). Such a pursuit would give rise to a claim
of “selective prosecution.” Id.

The primary way in which discriminatory law enforcement can be exhibited
1s using the prosecutorial prerogative itself to discriminate against those whose
constitutionally protected views or activities are not popular with the government
(selective prosecution). United States v. Banks, 368 F. Supp. 1245, 1251 (D.S.D.
1973). To show selective prosecution, a defendant must show that (1) the prosecution
had a discriminatory effect, and (2) that the prosecution was motivated by a
discriminatory purpose. Armstrong, 517 U.S. at 465.

To establish a discriminatory effect, a defendant must show that “similarly
situated” individuals were not prosecuted. Id. Similarly situated requires “some
degree of commonality among the indictable group, such that the defendant
challenging his indictment may make a supportable demonstration that those

unindicted persons are, in fact, similarly situated, and consequently, there must be
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an improper motive behind the selected individual’s prosecution.” United States v.
Blackley, 986 F. Supp. 616, 619 (D.D.C. 1997).

The defendant may establish discriminatory purpose either with direct
evidence of discriminatory intent or with statistical disparities or other indirect
evidence regarding the unequal application of the law. Branch Ministries, Inc. v.
Richardson, 970 F. Supp. 11, 17 (D.D.C. 1997).

In order to proceed to either an evidentiary hearing or the production of

[144

discovery, a defendant must establish “at least a colorable claim™ as to these two
prongs. Branch Ministries, 970 F. Supp. at 16.

First, Mr. Judd is similarly situated to the individuals protesting the federal
courthouse in Portland and the D.C. Fireworks Defendant. In another January 6
case, the government has argued that the allegations are not comparable, citing
courts’ statements of the “sui generalis nature of this criminal conduct.” See U.S. v.
Miller, 1:21-cr-00119 (D.D.C. July 22, 2021, ECF no. 39 at 8-9.6

Of course, if the standard was whether defendants were “identically situated”,
Mr. Judd’s claim would fall short. However, the standard requires the individuals
simply be “similarly situated.” Both Mr. Judd and the above defendants were alleged

to have committed violence against federal officers in circumstances where a large

crowd was attempting to breach a federal building, and, in at least two instances,

® Mr. Judd’s case resembles the circumstances of the Portland allegations more
broadly than that of Mr. Miller. Mr. Judd never entered the Capitol building, he did
not bring any weapons to the Capitol, and never “articulated plans to track and
potentially kill a U.S. Capitol police officer” as Mr. Miller is alleged to have done.
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fireworks were also involved. In both cases, the government had substantial —though
not identical evidence. The complaints in the Portland cases identify law enforcement
victims and eyewitnesses in each allegation. Of course, much of the evidence against
Mr. Judd will be video evidence. Finally, the purposes of sentencing in each instance
would not be so disparate as to warrant such vastly different outcomes. 18 U.S.C. §
3553(a)(2). In both cases, the government has an interest in seeking just punishment,
promoting deterrence, and protecting the public from the actions of individuals
alleged to have attacked officers during attempted breaches of a federal building.
The discriminatory effects in this case are the outcomes: protestors supporting
left-leaning causes in Portland assaulted officers in the attempted breach of a federal
building and in D.C. assaulted officers directly in an anti-police protest. Mr. Judd
was at a protest associated with right-leaning causes and support of President Trump
and is alleged to have assaulted officers in the attempted breach of a federal building.
At least 25 similarly situated defendants in Portland and the D.C. Fireworks
Defendant had their charges dismissed, whereas Mr. Judd—who caused no injury
and who has no history of violence and is in criminal history category I—received a
plea offer that would result in estimated sentencing guidelines of 46 to 57 months.
The disparity in outcomes is sufficient that the government must turn over the
targeted discovery specified in Section III. Mr. Judd’s request is not a fishing
expedition, and he recommends in camera review by the Court where work product

of open prosecutions is involved.
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The discriminatory purpose is that the government has treated violence
toward law enforcement differently when it is done by conservative versus liberal
protestors. This purpose is illustrated by the disparate outcomes in large numbers of
prosecutions both in Portland in 2020 and in Washington in 2021.

Mr. Judd has made “a colorable claim” that he is the subject of selective
prosecution when compared with those arrested for violations of 18 U.S.C. § 231(a)(3)
and 18 U.S.C. § 111 in relation to the Portland riots.

ITI. RELIEF REQUESTED

The above factual basis amounts to a “colorable claim” of selective prosecution,
and Mr. Judd requests this Court order discovery regarding the disparities in
charges. Specifically, Mr. Judd seeks:

(1) Communication between the Department of Justice (“Main Justice”) and
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Oregon regarding prosecution
of defendants arrested in connection with protests in 2020.

(2) Communication between management at the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
District of Oregon and line Assistant U.S. Attorneys regarding prosecution
of defendants arrested in connection with protests in 2020.

(3) Communication between the Department of Justice (“Main Justice”) and
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia regarding
prosecution of defendants arrested in connection with the January 6
demonstrations at the U.S. Capitol.

(4) Communication between management at the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
District of Columbia and line Assistant U.S. Attorneys regarding
prosecution of defendants arrested in connection with the January 6
demonstrations at the U.S. Capitol.

(5) Communication between the Department of Justice (“Main Justice”) and
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia regarding
prosecution of the D.C. Fireworks Defendant.

10
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(6) Communication between management at the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
District of Columbia and line Assistant U.S. Attorneys regarding
prosecution of the D.C. Fireworks Defendant.

See Armstrong, 517 U.S. at 468 (“Government must assemble from its own files
documents which might corroborate or refute his selective prosecution] claim.”)

To the extent that the materials involved are work product pertaining to open
prosecutions, Mr. Judd requests that the government review the communications in

camera for material relevant to Mr. Judd’s selective prosecution claim.

Respectfully submitted,

David Judd
By Counsel

/sl
Elizabeth Mullin
Virginia Bar Number 86668
DC Bar Number 484020
Assistant Federal Public Defender

Office of the Federal Public Defender
1650 King Street, Suite 500
Alexandria, Virginia 22314

(703) 600-0879 (T)

(703) 600-0880 (F)
Elizabeth_Mullin@fd.org (email)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on September 28, 2021, I will electronically file the
foregoing pleading with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will
then send a notification of such filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

/sl
Elizabeth Mullin
Virginia Bar Number 86668
DC Bar Number 484020
Assistant Federal Public Defender
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